

[image: cover]








[image: alt]
















DAVID HARE


The Blue Touch Paper


A Memoir









[image: ]

























For Nicole



















Contents











	Title Page


	Dedication


	List of Plates


	Foreword


	
Epigraph


 


	1 She Could Have Done Worse


	2 Mignon


	3 Lear on the Cliff


	4 The Mercedes Symbol


	5 Serious, Not Solemn


	6 Don’t Come


	7 Five Good Scenes


	8 I Saw Her Today at the Reception


	9 Cream and Bastards Rise


	10 Spilling the Sacrament


	11 007


	12 Birmingham University


	13 The Underlining


	14 Like Everyone’s a Writer


	Our Child Will Understand


	
Plate Section


 


	Acknowledgements


	About the Author


	By the Same Author


	Copyright

























Plates





1 Mum and Dad, Abbey Close Church, Paisley, 1941


2 My sister Margaret and DH, St Leonard’s, 1951


3 DH with Roger Dancey, California, 1965


4 The Fields House prefects at Lancing College, 1964


5 Portable Theatre: Snoo Wilson, DH and Tony Bicât


6 Howard Brenton, photographed by Snoo


7 Pen and ink drawing of DH by Richard Cork, 1966


8 Royal Court: the playwrights of the 1971 season


9 DH with Tennessee Williams, Manhattan, 1978


10 Band and vocals for Teeth ’n’ Smiles, 1975


11 Fanshen, the first production


12 Bill Paterson, in Licking Hitler, 1977


13 Kate Nelligan in Plenty


14 Darcy, Margaret, Joe, DH and Lewis, Christmas, 1978


15 DH with Kate Nelligan, Dreams of Leaving, 1979

















Foreword





In the summer of 2010, I was approached by the estate of Terence Rattigan to write a companion piece to The Browning Version. Traditionally, this well-known one-act play had been presented in a double bill with an inept farce called Harlequinade. It would be enlivening, the estate thought, if Rattigan’s popular piece about masochism and manipulation could for once be matched with something a little less facetious.


I loved the idea of writing about my time at Lancing College in the 1960s, so that Rattigan’s version of his schooldays could sit alongside mine on the same bill. Normally a full-length play might take me a year to write, but on this occasion I finished a one-act play in four weeks. All writers dream of a moment when your subconscious dictates and you are able to act as nothing more than a stenographer. It had happened to me only once before. On some nights, I would wake at three in the morning and scribble in a bedside notebook. My wife would stir and ask me what I was doing. ‘Writing tomorrow’s dialogue,’ I would say, before falling asleep.


The result, South Downs, was partly fiction. The plot was made up and so were the characters. But the ambience was true to my memory of attendance at an Anglo-Catholic school fifty years previously. The subject, essentially, was the need to fake a confidence you don’t feel. It was about the price of pretending you understand when you don’t. Everything about the play seemed to delight me, the cast and the director, Jeremy Herrin. Unusually, it was rehearsed and performed without a moment of strain. Anna Chancellor, who played the crucial part of Belinda Duffield, a West End actress who visits the school and thereby transforms the life of the fourteen-year-old hero, remarked that when she first read South Downs, it was as if the play had never been brought into being. It simply was. William Empson, praised for his apparent fluency, once said, ‘The careless ease goes in last.’ But on this occasion it had gone in at the time.


After so many years of anxious struggle, it was an unusual experience for a dramatist to be handed a play for free. I asked myself why it had happened this time and not before. But I also had to answer letters from many contemporaries, most of whom I had not spoken to or heard from for half a century. They, like me, had spent recent years haunted by everything unresolved from their distant adolescence. I kept thinking of William Faulkner: ‘The past is never dead. It’s not even past.’ Or as my friend Wallace Shawn observed, ‘They warn you life’s short. They don’t warn you it’s simultaneous.’


Up till then I had taken it for granted that I had lived through a period of little historical interest. Because I was born in 1947, I had spent most of my life feeling that I had missed the main event. The Second World War had ended before I was born, even though over and again it provided the setting for my imagination. But when I wrote South Downs, set in the early 1960s, I realised what an extraordinary distance we had travelled. Its world seemed to me closer than yesterday, but for many of the cast it was unrecognisable. I had to explain to the young actors that I had been born into a country the majority of whose population at least professed to believe in God. They also believed in their empire, their institutions, their democracy, their public figures and the essential decency of their civilisation. In particular parts of the country, belief in socialism was also deep-rooted and widespread. Sixty years later, those same people, or their descendants, appeared to have lost faith in everything except private virtue. They ascribed positive qualities to their friends but to almost nobody in large enterprises or public life. How on earth could so radical a change have occurred and how could it have gone so little remarked while it happened?


When writing plays, I’ve preferred to steer clear of direct autobiography. I may have plundered an incident or a remark, but rarely a storyline or a whole character. Writing about, for instance, the privatisation of the railways or the distribution of aid to the poor, I’ve tended to find inspiration in the external world. It’s difference that has stimulated me, not similarity. So when surprised by a desire to record the circumstances of my own life, I felt a novice. I wanted to be expansive, to move where my memory took me, and I felt this could be best achieved not by writing prose, but by talking. A series of conversations over a year with Amy Raphael followed with the aim of discovering why it was so hard for my generation to put the past to bed. Using as a primary source her edited transcripts – to which, with her exceptional taste, knowledge and literary skill, she made an essential contribution – I have fashioned this book. If, as with my education at Lancing, I have already written about a particular time or place, I have felt free to draw lightly on that previous account.


My hope is to show how a lifelong engagement with two disparate art forms – film and theatre – may reflect at the same time on more diverse questions and on more intimate. This book is the story of my apprenticeship. It seeks to tell how a young man became a dramatist, and to describe the cost and effect of that decision. There are many ways to become a writer and mine is just one. But I suspect certain aspects overlap with the experience of others. I made a series of peculiar choices, but they were in response to common problems.


In an opinion survey, one person in six said what they wanted most before they died was to write a memoir. All of us live lives where we are both large and small: large because of the intense focus of our self-attention – and small because, however fierce our concentration, the universe remains indifferent to us throughout. My life has been no different from anyone else’s: both everything and nothing.


DH


London, February 2015
















You see, when one’s young, one doesn’t feel part of it, the human condition; one does things because they are not for good; everything is a rehearsal to be repeated ad lib, to be put right when the curtain goes up in earnest. One day you know that the curtain was up all the time. That was the performance.


SYBILLE BEDFORD




















1


She Could Have Done Worse





When I was growing up nothing excited me more than getting lost. Walking bored me when I knew the way. Until I was twenty-one, my home was on the south coast, firstly in a modest flat up a hill in St Leonards, later in a semi-detached in Bexhill. But when we made our annual family trip to my maternal grandmother’s in Paisley, my sport was to get on a bus, close my eyes and then get out. I was barely ten and I had no idea where I was. Sometimes I recognised Love Street, the home of the local football club, St Mirren, for whom my uncle Jimmy was a talent scout, but nothing else made sense to me. My grandmother Euphemia was furious when I got back two hours late for tea – in those days ham, lettuce, tomato and pork pie, followed by a lot of biscuits and cakes. This after a lunch of mince and tatties.


When I disappeared, nobody seemed overly concerned. Children vanished from time to time, that’s what happened. A lower-middle-class childhood on the south coast of England in the 1950s became a distinctive mixture of freedom and repression. It was because children were encouraged to make their own way home from school that my nine-year-old friend Michael Richford and I encountered our first sex offender on the Downs, right next to the air-raid shelter which no one had bothered to demolish. The spectral predator was moustached, wearing a grey overcoat and a grey scarf. Our refusal to show him our penises did not seem to lessen his pleasure in showing us his. We two boys hurried home, through the abundant nettles and brambles, up our separate back paths and past the hen-houses that lingered on beneath hedges at the ends of gardens for so many years after the war. Later we were taken by police to line-ups and asked, unsuccessfully, to identify various old men coming out of the Playhouse Cinema after a smoky matinee of The Dam Busters. But, in spite of all the dark parental huddles which followed on the incident, I was still allowed at thirteen to go on my own by train to London. Why? At fifteen I was hitch-hiking across England to Stratford in the hope of seeing Vanessa Redgrave in The Taming of the Shrew. At seventeen, I left for America. My mother wished me good luck, and no doubt she fretted, but at no point did she try to stop me. I was free. Later I read Nietzsche: ‘All truly great thoughts are conceived by walking.’


Over the years I was to convince myself I’d had an unhappy childhood, though I would never have dared say so in public while my parents were alive. Even writing these words causes me a flush of shame. The very over-sensitivity which equips you to be a writer also makes being a writer agony. But in retrospect it’s extraordinary how much licence my mother allowed to my sister and me. It goes without saying that after the Second World War, when dealing with their children, adults almost never stooped to our level. Down where we were, we looked up at all times. There was none of today’s dippy celebration of children as little unfallen gods. We were not pushed self-importantly through the streets in thousand-pound chariots, scooping up croissants and ice creams on the way. Nobody told us we were wonderful. But on the other hand, even in the stifling atmosphere of suburbia, among those rows of silent, russet-bricked houses and identically tended lawns, adorned with billowing washing lines, strawberry plants, runner beans and raspberry canes, we were granted a level of independence which now seems unimaginable.


Or was that simply because of my mother? Nancy Hare, as she came to be known, had been born Agnes Cockburn Gilmour just a decade into the twentieth century, and brought up as the middle child of three by fiercely puritanical parents who did their best to force upon her a poor opinion of herself. The result, in her mid-twenties, had been a nervous breakdown, precipitated perhaps by the feeling that she was never going to find a husband. She was tall, striking rather than beautiful, with looks which seem typical of their period. Her only escape from what we would now call low self-esteem was her flair for amateur dramatics. She had a good voice and a prized diploma in elocution. The family business was road haulage. Even in my youth, the men stood at lecterns and horses were maintained in stables and sent out on the roads, admittedly as a sort of tribute to past practices, but maintained nevertheless. My grandparents had been the first people in Paisley to own a car, but if that implied prosperity, then letting it show in any way beyond the motor-mechanical would have been frowned on, the subject of ceaseless comment from neighbours never reluctant to pass damning comments on each other. The family religion was judgement.


My mother had been raised in Whitehaugh Drive, a cheerless, rising street of Victorian stone houses, blackened by industry and with back yards the size of handkerchiefs. A few doors up was the spinster Betty Richie, who, on its release, was to see The Sound of Music 365 times, once for every successive day of the year. The strong-minded Euphemia had done her very best to make sure that my uncle Jimmy stayed unmarried as long as possible, the better, she hoped, to look after her in her old age. When Jimmy did, at forty, eventually make it out of the house with the inoffensive but marginally vulgar Nan, a childless spinster who bestowed sweet tea, jam and honeyed flapjacks down the throat of any child who came near, his mother refused to allow that the marriage had happened or to admit Aunt Nan to the family house. Only the favoured Peggy, the youngest and brightest of the three children, was lined up to make a brilliant match, and even allowed to go off from Paisley Grammar School to Glasgow University, where she at once fell in love with a medical student who also shone as a rugby player. For my mother, to whom the drunken, violent pavements of Paisley were nightly torture, a fate like Betty Richie’s seemed to await.


For the whole of her life my mother was scared. She managed to be scared for forty years in Bexhill-on-Sea, a Sussex dormitory for the retired and soon-to-be-retired which is not, on the surface at least, the scariest of places. I both inherited her fear and tried to reject it. Her mother left Nancy with a strong idea of how things should be done. I only once saw her in any kind of trouser. Respectable women wore skirts. No incident loomed larger in her later anecdotal life than the time when, during the war, while working for the Wrens, she mistakenly drank a china cup of whisky late at night in the belief that it was tea. She made the resulting wreckage of her consciousness in the early hours sound like a descent into un-merry hell. Her horror of alcohol, of men, of violence and of any kind of public disorder seemed to me in my equal primness like a horror of life. My mother was always on guard, always on watch, expecting men, children, neighbours, strangers, and, I’m afraid, her own family to betray signs of their underlying beastliness. Civilisation was a veneer, a pleasant veneer, yes, but not to be trusted. Essential things always came out. I grew used to her favourite rebuke. ‘I love you,’ she’d say to me. ‘But I don’t like you.’


Nancy was an intelligent and sensitive woman, born, by bad luck, into the wrong place at the wrong time. She passed her days as a secretary, or as she herself preferred to call it, a shorthand typist, at Coats, the cotton firm, where sometimes, among the reels and bobbins, she wondered whether she belonged with the professional actors like Duncan Macrae who would come from the Citizens’ Theatre to Paisley to guest-star in otherwise amateur productions of thrillers and James Bridie’s romances. Macrae was an expert in what the Scots of the time called glaikit comedy. We would call it gormless. But if a working-class satellite of Glasgow was not easy for her, then nor, I think, was the suffocating gentility of the south coast of England to which my father transported her after the war. They had met at a dance in Greenock in 1941, and the progress of their mysterious courtship was recorded by my aunt Peggy. In her diary, for reasons not clear to me or to my sister Margaret, Peggy sometimes calls my mother Agatha, even though that was neither her given nor her adopted name.




27 September 1941


My beloved sister went off at 10 o’clock this morning and didn’t get back till the minutes before midnight. She was very gay when she came in and announced that she was bringing an Officer for lunch on the morrow. Shrieks from mother.




 





28 September 1941


Clifford came. He was most charming and an easy talker; he was obviously very fond of Agatha, kept turning round and beaming at her in such an adoring way. Agatha dashed into the back kitchen between courses and asked me what I thought of him. I gave my hearty approval. I think she could do a lot worse, especially at her age. Admittedly, he’s queer looking and smaller than she is, but he’s kindness itself and very generous.




 





9 October 1941


Bombshell arrived today at lunch-time. Nancy’s letter for this week brought the news that she was going to marry Clifford quite soon. Mother was bowled over by the news and called me all sorts of names for not letting her know sooner. Clifford is coming to see Father at the weekend and Dad is going to ask him gravely if he thinks he can keep her. It’s going to be killing.




 





13 October 1941


Again an ominous date. Clifford arrived tonight to explain his financial position to Father. Then we had some supper and everything seemed to be flowing smoothly until the date was brought up. Both Nancy and Clifford want it soon, very soon; in point of fact, next week. Mother almost fainted.




 





22 October 1941


It’s all over. The whole affair went with a decided swing and passed far too quickly. Everything passed off excellently. There was no confetti to bother Agatha, although the men hoisted Clifford on their shoulders and carried him downstairs, forgetting all about his sore leg.





Reading this diary so many years later, the obvious temptation is to assume that this was the familiar story of a wartime marriage. Two people come together and feel they have no time before the man will go away once more to put his life at risk. Soon after his visit to the Abbey Close Church of Scotland my father was indeed back on the high seas, though not before Betty Richie had sent the happy couple an ambiguous telegram reading simply: ‘You have done it now.’ But so little in the lives of either of my parents could be called impetuous that this single action stands out as uncharacteristic of them both. Their decision was destined, in subsequent years, radically to transform my mother’s life while having remarkably little effect on my father’s. You would think that two people could not meet and almost immediately mate unless it was what both of them already had in mind. But what was in my father’s mind was never clear to me, and, from her own reckoning, I’m not sure it was ever apparent to my mother either. For all the ceaseless blue flimsies that passed between them while Dad was away at sea, I never read anything in either of their letters which suggested a strong bond of understanding or of passion. My father became necessary to my mother, essential even, without ever becoming adored.


I have in my possession the family Bible which Dad once gave to me, and which, in a pencilled addendum, traces our ancestry back to the Earl of Bristol in the fifteenth century. But by the time the twentieth century began, the Hares were red-brick bourgeois, living in Ilford in a by no means luxurious house, and yet still able to maintain two live-in maids. In quite ordinary streets, servants were still part of the deal. My father was the middle of three brothers, all of them short and all of them soon to be prematurely bald. Both the eldest, christened Sterika but mercifully known as Eric, and the youngest, christened Alan but condemned to be known as Bumper, had posh golf-club accents which embarrassed me when in their company, and which would later make the cinema actor Terry-Thomas sound unaffected. Some of Bumper’s adventures were, by repute, not so different from those of exactly the kind of bounder and cad that unusual actor played. But my father, christened Clifford Theodore Rippon but known alternately as Bluey and as Finns, had a much less noticeable accent. He was that rare kind of Englishman who’s hard to place. Probably that was because he had run away from England when in his teens. Faced with the prospect of following his father into Barclays Bank as a manager, Finns had left Chigwell School, where he told me he had spent much of his time stealing walnuts from a spreading tree, and made his way to Australia.


At some point in my childhood, Eric told me that during the First World War at St Paul’s School he had played cricket, waiting each year to progress upwards. From 1914 onwards, the first XI, he said, had played in the certainty that they would then go off to the trenches. When the season resumed, the likelihood was at least four or five of the year’s previous team would have been killed. It was Eric’s luck to have been born in 1900, so by the time he enjoyed cricket at the highest level, the conflict was almost over, and at last, in 1918, a full team might hope to survive. When I asked him how young men were so willing to accept the certainty of their own imminent death without question, he replied, ‘Nobody questioned. You played cricket knowing you were likely to die. And you accepted it. I can’t explain to you. I can no longer explain to myself.’


My uncle’s lasting memorial, therefore, was not to be in a cemetery at Ypres or at Thiepval, but rather in Wisden, where, playing for Essex as S. N. Hare, he is still credited with holding the record for a ninth-wicket partnership in first-class cricket. For the rest of his working life, while employed by Shell, he would be allowed back from Baghdad for the summer in order to attend each of the five test matches in the company of the novelist Alec Waugh, who was Eric’s rather unlikely best friend. But my father had been born six years later in 1906. His passion was not for cricket but for classical music. When I was little, he would play me Brahms, just as Brad Pitt does for his son in the Terrence Malick picture The Tree of Life, and tell me it was the greatest music ever written. The one thing Finns knew, even as an adolescent, was that he had been born into a country in which he did not wish to live.


When, in 1976, I directed the play Weapons of Happiness by Howard Brenton, I would constantly repeat to myself a favourite line, when one character says to another, ‘You really are something of a perpetual absence, old man.’ It stayed with me for years. I did not understand its resonance until I one day realised that the phrase ‘a perpetual absence’ so perfectly described my own father. Even when Finns was present, he was absent. But he was rarely present. At his best, he was attentive but opaque, happier with anecdotes than with conversation. At his frequent worst, he was self-involved and inconsiderate. Given my mother’s naturally nervous disposition, nothing could have been worse for her than marrying a husband who was rarely around. He had gone to Tamworth in New South Wales to work as a jackeroo when he was still under eighteen. In his own account, he had moved from Australia to a tea plantation in Malaya – doing what, I have no idea. He never seemed particularly physical. He had entered the merchant navy, where he played reveille on the cornet every morning to wake the ship, and played again at night to put it to bed. The life suited him fine.


During the Second World War, merchant ships were commandeered for the national effort and used to convey troops. Dad was torpedoed twice, once in a troop ship in the Mediterranean early on in the war, and then again as part of a North Atlantic convoy. He had had to climb down nets on the side of his ship in open sea and take a rowing boat to safety. Photos of him in his pre-war freedom show him larking around in easy camaraderie with other men of his own age, standing on each other’s shoulders, often near swimming pools which look like half-cut-off oil drums on the decks of ships. He smiles without a care in the world. But by the time he meets my mother, he is seen in a series of framed piano-top photos with his hat still at a jaunty angle, but with a far more serious expression. He usually has an impressive row of braid along the top pocket of his white uniform, because for the length of the war he was in the Royal Navy. At its end, he returned to merchant service, rising to become a full purser with P&O. When attending my first raunchy and foul-mouthed play Slag at the Hampstead Theatre Club in 1970, my mother finessed the problem of parental reaction beautifully. ‘Yes, we enjoyed it, but your father, having been in the navy, probably understood more of it than I did.’


If I was conscious of wanting not to inherit my mother’s timidity, then it was my father’s evasiveness I recognised in myself, and also disliked. When Dad died in 1989, my mother was embarrassed by his omission of both his children from his will. I asked my sister if she had been surprised. ‘Not at all,’ Margaret replied, without any apparent bitterness. ‘Dad was never interested in us when he was alive. Why should he be just because he’s died?’ Asked in 2000 by the Almeida Theatre to adapt Chekhov’s 1880 ramblings, usually performed in the English-speaking theatre under the title Platonov, I was taken aback when I enquired what the meaning was of this strange word, Безотцовщина, by which the play was known in Russia. ‘Fatherlessness,’ I was told.


Margaret had been born in Paisley in 1943. After the war the family had moved down to St Leonards in East Sussex, where my father’s father had also retired. St Leonards is itself a kind of adjunct of Hastings, in the same relationship as Hove is to Brighton: part but not part. The winter of 1947 was, at the time, the coldest of the century, and my mother, pregnant and alone, pulled Margaret up the steep, icy hill to 23 Dane Road. She lived with my sister on the ground floor of a high unremarkable turn-of-the-century semi-detached which had been chopped haphazardly into flats. The pocket-handkerchief garden was now in front, not behind. My mother loved to joke about the view from the kitchen sink which was nothing but a blank bottle-green wall.


Like many places in Britain after the Second World War, once the sandbags and rusting wire had been removed, St Leonards revealed itself as spectacularly run-down, a vista of crumbling brick and weeping wet windows, lashed by rain from the Channel. A sort of roiling mist seemed year-round to hold the town in its grip. The model village, the chief tourist attraction above the pier, reeked of rot and damp timber. The pier itself was a rusting wreck, occasionally painted but offering no particular attraction at its end to draw the visitor out onto its soaking splintered floorboards. The sea was, on most days, slate grey flecked with turbulent white. The immediate tide of prosperity which was in the next few decades to spread out from favoured London on the wings of colour supplements, restoring and gentrifying nearly every town and village in sight, was not destined to reach the Cinque Ports and their coastal confederation for at least sixty years, and even then intermittently. The word ‘conservation’ never travelled to the south coast. The Aga never took its relentless advance this far. Buildings were left standing not because they were valuable evidence of the past, but because everyone was too poor to repair them. If you visit Hastings, St Leonards and Bexhill today, you will find only a thin smear of trendiness – pockets of painters, architects and designers, loving the air and loving the sea, going into raptures over the choice little eruptions of modernist architecture – laid over a respectable poverty which has persisted alarmingly. The period costume designer Shirley Russell told me she weekended in Bexhill because the posthumous throw-outs at jumble sales were the cheapest and most dated in the country. There was nothing more artistically opportune for Shirley than a Bexhill death. The average age of the inhabitants of these three towns is still stubbornly high.


I cannot now imagine what it was like for my mother, with one daughter born and a son on the way, to be transplanted from a sheltered upbringing to a town where she knew almost no one, where most people were far older than her, and to be expected henceforth to bear all the burden of family alone. My father had been behaving as sailors do, and conducting an on-board affair with a woman none of us ever met. My sister had even been warned by Mum to ready herself for divorce. One of the nuns at Margaret’s Anglican convent school took care to instruct all the girls to do everything they could to keep their parents together. This was advice which, even at the time, Margaret thought particularly pointless to an eight-year-old child. What on earth was she meant to do? Scream?


I don’t even know if my father was around when I was born at the Briars Nursing Home, a Gothic Victorian pile, in 1947. On the very same day, 5 June, the Americans announced the Marshall plan, making me, as so many others, a child of enlightened post-war European reconstruction. I have a clear memory of being pushed around in an enormous blue pram, and I am able to date everything that happened to me in St Leonards by knowing that we moved five miles along the coast to Bexhill in 1952. We did once possess lurid colour film taken on my father’s 8 mm camera of Margaret and me playing outside our flat. I can see the images now – Margaret in a candy-striped school dress, the colour of seaside rock, and me in baggy grey worsted shorts, playing with a couple of Polish twins whose oddly spoken refugee father every day wore the same heavy blue striped suit and pebble glasses over his scarecrow figure. I couldn’t understand a word he said. Here was a man – there were many such in my youth – who would carry evidence of the war with him for the rest of his life. But some time in the 1970s, just at the point when it might have been possible to transfer such indelible primary images to video tape, my father, retired and finally living at home, with no warning, destroyed them. ‘I thought I’d clear out the attic,’ he said, telling us proudly that he had also gone on to destroy every Dinky toy, puppet, board game, rail-track and piece of writing from our childhoods. ‘I didn’t think you’d want them.’


I saw my paternal grandfather, Alan Hare, who lived a mile away, only when we went there for tea on Sundays. In his thick chalk-striped suit, watch-chain in place, hearing aid up to full, he seemed kindly enough, and keen to teach me the game of cribbage, which involved moving the matchsticks he had used to light his pipe up and down a board of holes, while his wife, Rose, in cloche hat and beige stockings, served us tea. I felt I had a reasonable grasp of the procedures. It was only when I was in my teens that my mother asked me if I had never been suspicious about the fact that my grandfather won every week. I told her that I had always assumed he was better at the game than a four-year-old. ‘No,’ my mother said. ‘He cheated.’


As an adolescent it amazed me that a grown man could derive any emotional satisfaction from beating a child at cribbage, and what’s more, by doing so dishonestly. Childhood is like going into the jungle without knowing what animals you will meet there. Evolution may have given you some elementary sense to recognise a leopard as a leopard, and a snake as a snake. But recognising dangerous animals is very different from knowing how they’re going to behave. Only experience teaches you that. As a child you’re at everyone’s mercy.


The routine of the early years was established. My father’s voyages, though irregular, took up eleven months of the year. So for that time, he would be away, sailing through the Suez canal, to Aden, to Bombay, to Fremantle and thence to Sydney, on a liner called the SS Mooltan. While he was at sea, we lived austerely, my mother scrimping on a budget and reminding us every day of what we could not afford. She was what’s called a good plain cook, salad being at all times undressed, and meat unsauced. There were a lot of stovie potatoes. When my father’s ship returned to Tilbury, Mum would disappear for a couple of days’ decompression without us, and then reappear with my freshly suntanned father, who would unroll a rubber band of copious five-pound notes – he preferred to carry cash – and take us for unimagined treats. He would rub his hands together as he ordered rump steak for us all in the Greek-Cypriot Star Café on the seafront in Hastings. He would divert us with stories of the cabaret singers he had seen on his travels. He took particular pleasure in tall dusky women like Kay Starr and Lena Horne, all of whom sang hip music in a low range. Margaret and I were expected to bask in his largesse. We were all too aware that his abundance contrasted with the life he left us all to lead in his absence. Eleven months of austerity yielded to one month of razzmatazz.


The most exhilarating moments came when the boat was in dry dock, and Dad would summon the whole family up for a few days’ visit on board, while he carried out some practical duties as purser. For years, ships like this had serviced the empire, conveying generations of administrators and cricketers to far-flung places. Way into the 1960s they served as the last remaining islands of nineteenth-century British snobbery: deck quoits and dressing for dinner. My sister and I were suitably awed when we were told that on every voyage there were eight chefs from Goa with no other job but to cook curry. My father had a dedicated servant from the same Portuguese part of India. Fernandez was an elegant sweet-natured man, in white jacket and dark trousers. He spent an astonishing amount of his time on his knees on the thick carpet either unlacing my father’s shoes or polishing them. Conversation with him was conducted entirely in pidgin. ‘You go getty my shoes, me wanty quick,’ Dad would say, and off Fernandez would run. One exchange, when my father was dissatisfied with the meal put before us, seemed especially memorable. ‘Me wanty curry hot. Me no wanty spicy hot, me wanty heated hot.’ ‘Yessir, me getty hot hot, not spicy hot.’ The two of them could carry on in this vein for hours.


The ship, huge and mysterious, allowed me to indulge my favourite pastime of getting lost. SS Mooltan had been built by Harland and Wolff in 1923. It weighed twenty thousand tons and carried over a thousand passengers. All the furniture was ridiculously weighty, in order to cope with the swell. The floral-patterned plump armchairs were attached to the floor with metal hooks and eyes. It took all a child’s strength to open a connecting door before it slammed back to secure the long corridors. Even the sight of the vast, empty dining room, in which, my father assured me, passengers were free, if they so wished, to order roast beef, eggs and lobster for breakfast, fired up my idea of what it might one day be like to be adult. I was unhealthily driven by fantasy. Alone at night, I would imitate my father, standing with a glass in my hand and demanding another pink gin and a fresh packet of Senior Service. Miming furiously I would say out loud, ‘I’ll have one more cigarette, I think, before I go to bed.’ The chance to run around empty decks and break into cabins to test out luxurious sheets and eiderdowns gave my imagination a free playground more lavish than anything I knew at home. I came to know the ship inside out and to love it for its unbridled sense of adulthood. Nothing yet intimated to me that I would never take a sea voyage in my life.


Something of my father’s attitude to me crystallised on the morning of my fifth birthday. With his sailing dates a lottery, it was rare for him to be around on this, for me, the most important day of the year. Just before breakfast, he got up, put my mother on the back of his Vespa and told me that they would not be staying for the day itself because they were going scootering in northern France. My sister and I could stay home and our grandmother could look after us. He said they had thought of warning me in advance that they were going to be away for the big day, but had decided it would be less hurtful to get up, give me a present and leave. The shock, he said, would be less. My mother was definitely ashamed, my father not. Before they disappeared off into the distance, Dad presented the clinching argument. ‘It was much the most convenient day for me.’


A wiser child would have protected himself by adjusting his needs. But for a long time I allowed my father’s absence of interest in me to determine my own emotional life. Another time, after a bath, when I rushed back down to kiss him goodnight, he greeted me with the words, ‘Oh God, don’t say that boy’s out of bed again.’ Unsurprisingly, I have always been resistant to literature which portrays childhood as a paradise from which we fall. My own experience suggested this view was false and sentimental. Even as a child, J. M. Barrie and Lewis Carroll meant nothing to me, and they mean less today. Swallows and Amazons was anathema. I have been Hobbit-hating from Day One. I never bothered myself with film or theatre specifically aimed at children. Even in Bexhill I had discerned that, as a child, things not intended for you are much more rewarding than things that are. So what if you don’t understand them? That’s how you learn. Although I could hardly have articulated it, nor still less known what lay ahead, I had begun to suspect that a child’s radar was often sharper than an adult’s, principally, it turns out, because the child lacks the equipment to process the information from that radar. For me, childhood is not defined by innocence but by bewilderment. I remember thinking all the time, ‘Someone tell me what’s going on.’ How could I know what I was meant to do, when I had no clue what anyone else was up to?


In 1952 we made our move out of the flat in St Leonards and into the leafy semi-detached in Bexhill, a town which was later improbably used by Alfonso Cuarón as the last location for those surviving Armageddon in a film called Children of Men. My sister has always suspected our parents went there in order to cement their marriage, to make sure there was an investment which together they would have an interest in protecting. They chose a street which backed onto the Downs, and in which everyone lived in houses all constructed by the same local builder. It was almost a parody of suburbia, and, like new suburbanites seeking to pass a national examination, we bought a television set in time for numbers of neighbours to come round to see the Coronation of Queen Elizabeth II in black and white on a tiny screen in the corner of what seems also, in retrospect, to have been a tiny living room. Our house was packed with people staring at a snowy blizzard of imperial imagery, cooked up by Victorians and clothed in music and drapery to suggest a seamlessness in history which the real thing lacks. Peanuts were passed round all day, alongside the filter-tipped cigarettes which my mother favoured but never inhaled. These cigarettes were retrieved from individual pipe-shaped containers within a revolving silver globe, representing the shape of the world. When, in the 1980s, well-born intellectuals deployed the word ‘suburban’ as a term of abuse against Margaret Thatcher, I always bridled. I thought there were a thousand reasons to oppose our most self-admiring prime minister, but not for her background. That background was not so different from my own.


How do I begin to explain the level of repression obtaining in Newlands Avenue, where to hang your washing out on a Sunday or to fail to polish your car on a Saturday invited – well, what? The opprobrium of your neighbours? Or maybe just the imagined opprobrium, which could well, in the latent hysteria of the silent street, be twice as bad? What exactly was everyone frightened of? As an adult, reading Kenneth Tynan’s diaries, I came across his characterisation of the craven drama critic of the Sunday Telegraph, John Gross, whom he described as seeming ‘to be in fear of being blackballed from some nameless club of which all aspired to be members’. That phrase ‘nameless club’ shocked me to my roots, because it so described the threat hanging over the life we had known in Bexhill-on-Sea. James Agate had once summed Bexhill up as ‘bleak and purse-proud’. That’s how it was. It was not a particularly Masonic town, and it had no dominant institutions. The churches and the golf club did not seem powerful, nor did the Rotarians and Past Rotarians hold the town in an iron grip. You couldn’t even say there was a strong social hierarchy or clique, a group of favoured names who held sway. If there were aristocrats, we never met them. But nevertheless somehow everyone in the town of twenty-four thousand white people and one black knew full well by messages which came only through the air that you might be damned if you broke the rules. Worse, you might be doubly damned because you never knew the rules in the first place.


So much, clearly, was to do with sex. How could it not be? The popular injunction ‘Be Yourself’ which was to take hold so completely in the next fifty years would have been meaningless to a majority of the British population in the 1950s. Be what exactly? On the other side of our semi-detached, 32 Newlands Avenue beside our 34, lived the Yearwood family, Tim, Sheila and their son Michael, almost my sister’s age, who in their impeccable integration into the morals and manners of the town seemed to offer some sort of implicit rebuke to all around, and to us in particular. Sheila, younger than Mum, had been her petty officer in the WRNS, and it was Sheila who had alerted the Hares to the vacancy next door. Tim was a snifty solicitor, at the heart of the town’s life, a Freemason and a member of what in another age was called the Quality. Barbados-born, Tim had fenced for his university and landed in France with the Royal Artillery just after D-Day. His well-creased cavalry twills and weekly game off the back tee with other professional worthies – ‘Straight down the middle, Tim!’ – suggested a level of acceptability to which we could only aspire. Sheila, pearls in place round her cashmere sweater, was the daughter of cockneys, and, like my own parents, in a marriage which had only happened because of the war. Sheila ran family life so that the breakfast table was set immediately after the evening meal, in order that everything might be there, waiting, when the family woke punctually at seven. The marmalade, even, had its own lacy cloth with beads, a sort of yarmulke of gentility. Michael himself, pale-skinned and geeky, was for the next fifteen years presented to me and my sister as the exemplar of all we failed to be: studious, hard-working, polite and serious in his dedication to scholarship and discreet advancement. Sheila unfailingly took to her bed every afternoon for a few hours in order to recover from goodness knows what.


Two sides of a semi-detached invite comparison – both sides are hyper-conscious of the other – and it would be fair to say that for many years the Hares defined ourselves by our proximity to the Yearwoods. They became the standard, and we became the satirical failures. Try as we might, we could not live in the orderly manner of our neighbours. Though to their face my mother showed nothing but friendship and respect, though in her heart she craved for nothing but to be accepted by Tim and Sheila, it was to her credit that, when confiding in Margaret and me, she seemed to take a certain kind of raffish pleasure in our supposed social shortcomings. We were not as posh as the Yearwoods – you could tell that as much from our rickety furniture and from our kitsch oriental paintings as from our naked marmalade tops – and that was fine. But we were clearly posher than the Richfords who lived two doors down in – horror! – a bungalow.


The gradations of class grip early and they grip absolutely. You could not exist in this order without knowing your place in it. I was best friends with Michael Richford – it was he who was with me when together we encountered our first paedophile – but the details of our schooling were different. Private education was Bexhill’s principal industry. In the twentieth century there were four hundred schools in the town at one time or another, some up for a few years, some longer. Every rambling red-brick mansion with grounds was turned into a preparatory school, and staffed by ex-military personnel whose wars had not gone entirely to plan. First I was sent off to be one of the very few boys allowed at St Francis, a hitherto all-girls’ school in West Down Road which boasted an entrance through a mock-medieval castle keep. It was known informally as Fanny’s Fortress, in honour of the headmistress, Fanny Fulford. My sister was there, much more senior, and the young Julie Christie, having been dumped by her parents in India on the south coast, was already attracting, in her teens, a certain amount of attention. But soon enough I was moved out of kindergarten and on to Pendragon, a wacky operation down Cantelupe Road, a pleasant residential avenue somewhere between the promenade and the railway station. Pendragon was run by a teacher called Alec Everett who, graffiti in my Kennedy’s Latin Primer informed me when I turned the flyleaf on my first day in the building, was known to be the owner of ‘a great fat steaming cock’.


Mr Everett, in his thirties, in fact lived with a young American friend in the residential part of the school, in a forbidden flat into which we never saw at the end of a classroom corridor. The headmaster went out to get Smarties or jelly babies for his protégé most afternoons, some time after lunch. The blond lounged around doing nothing in canary-yellow crew-neck pullovers, like a useless young man in a Terence Rattigan play. But because Mr Everett wore a blue blazer and flannels and spoke with an impeccably cultured accent, and because he drilled learning into the boys with ruthless efficiency, he was held to be respectable by all the parents, who, to a man and woman, admired him beyond suspicion. The best place to hide is in plain view. Mr Everett was, like most of his class and generation, a disciplinarian, insisting that every boy in school sit on his hands for a whole afternoon until an individual owned up to having left chewing gum under a seat. I learned that the only collective thing people in Bexhill admired was collective punishment. But Mr Everett also drew to him exceptional teachers, so that at the age of seven I was being taught piano by Philip Ledger, a myopic, gentle soul who tried not to wince as I played. ‘Try again,’ he would say, taking his glasses off, as if cleaning them might somehow polish up my appalling technique. ‘Try and play better.’ He had already established the connections with Benjamin Britten and with Peter Pears which would one day see him become Director of the Aldeburgh Festival.


My mother was meanwhile gravitating to what would today be called the Scottish community, but which was then thought of as a few stubborn and strongly accented expatriates who happened to have migrated south to Bexhill, and who still wore tartan scarves and waistcoats. On Monday they all received the previous day’s copies of the Sunday Post. This Scottish newspaper celebrated the home country in sugar-overloaded tones which suited the toffee fudge, tablet and peanut brittle they all liked to eat. They would gather annually for a haggis dinner, and to recite Burns. Weekly, they would meet to dance Highland reels. My mother’s most prized records were by Jimmy Shand and his Band, and she had once met Kenneth McKellar, who, she told me, was a very nice man. I was dragged along to take part in the classes from an early age but unfortunately the white-haired enthusiast in charge of putting the gramophone records on suffered from Parkinson’s, which meant that a jumping needle got each dance off to an uncertain start. But if Mum’s Scottish identity remained important to her – it defined her, it made her feel she belonged somewhere – so too was her continuing interest in the stage. Mum soon found herself helping out, teaching Scottish accents, sometimes to professionals, at the Thalia School of Drama, a parking spot for tots and aspirants in London Road, ruled over by the formidable Christine Porch, and by Isobel Overton, a markedly intellectual young woman in billowing skirts and gold glasses, who would later publish a book of letters entitled A Canadian in Love, and after whom the theatre on the campus of the University of Toronto is now named. Mum went on to appear as a footman, dressed in what looked like a pair of red velvet curtains, saggy round the knee, in amateur Molière. She held one side of the double doors open for Julie Christie to burst through as the soubrette.


I was two years at Pendragon before Mr Everett left. He fled town in the manner of schoolmasters at that time, without notice and for no given reason. My mother did not take to the new owner of the premises, a diminutive man with a thin moustache. She told me there was something ‘not right’ about him. In that at least, she was correct. There is today a lively internet thread dedicated to his abuses from fifty years ago. And so the decision was made, probably at the Yearwoods’ suggestion, to send me instead to what was said to be a more reputable institution on the smarter side of town. Its most famous old boy was Reginald Maudling, a gruesome sort of Conservative archetype, who was to fail as Chancellor of the Exchequer – it was he who left his Labour successor a note about the economy reading ‘Good luck old cock, sorry to leave it in such a mess’ – before being bought off by the fraudster John Poulson and dying of alcoholic poisoning in 1979.


Harewood was also, by chance, the school which had originally spawned Pendragon. In the early 1950s the Reverend Woodruff had been dismissed as headmaster of Harewood for gross indecency. In the wake of the scandal, Mr Everett had left his teaching job at Harewood in order to tempt angry parents to put their boys in a completely new school, Pendragon. Now, in a backward twist of fortune, I was to return to the mother ship.
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Harewood was set in fabulous grounds in Collington Avenue with its own cricket and football pitches, and only shamed by its immediate proximity to Normandale, an even better endowed building whose bronzed headmaster, Mr Palmer, spent most of the day and a good part of his nights, pipe clamped between teeth, driving his state-of-the-art petrol lawn mower over his velvet turf. His Christmas card portrayed him on his machine. By contrast, our own red-haired head, Michael Phillips, spent his day in a torment of self-feeding ill temper, clawing compulsively at his crotch and driven mad, it seemed, by his pupils, his staff, his wife, his children, the workers, General Gamal Abdel Nasser, and the general state of disrespect towards entrepreneurs and educators like himself. I remember him standing in the school corridor, dealing with some ungovernable itch deep inside his trousers, while at the same time brandishing a Beaverbrook newspaper and fulminating to a sympathetic Mr Mulvihill and Mr Morgan about how Frank Cousins and the trade unions ran the country unopposed. Fifty years later, he was to send me for my professional advice his film script drawing an analogy between the EU bureaucrats in Brussels who had de-manned our native isle and the conquest of Britain by William and the Normans in 1066. Would I be willing, he asked, to help him get it made?


My new school, it turned out, was savage, a place where teacher-on-pupil violence was as common as pupil-on-pupil. From the perspective of the twenty-first century, Harewood, with masters twisting ears and whacking skulls, feels far closer to Dickens than to how we live now. Most of us were day boys, but the ethic, like the luridly striped green and red blazer, was that of a traditional boarding school. After tea, as we returned to our classrooms, there was an ominous silence each day. Some small boy was put on lookout in the corridor while inside the classroom, on the dusty wooden floor, one of the new boys was laid out, his trousers pulled down and his forked nakedness exposed to the screams and derisive laughter of forty or fifty older pupils. You could choose to fight back or not. The purpose for each newcomer was not simply to humiliate you, not simply to introduce you to the idea of visceral male force, but also to classify you into one of two teams, in which you remained for the rest of your days at the school. A foreskin or the absence of it marked you out as a Cavalier or as a Roundhead. At that time I did not even know there had been a civil war in England, let alone what its political intricacies might have been, so the terms meant nothing to me. Nor had I thought to begin the unhappy business of dividing my peers into friends and enemies. That came later. A couple of weeks after my own initiation rite – my trousers and underpants had been round my knees, my thighs scratched from the nails in the floor – an older boy called Hugh Bishop gravely informed me that in life it was better to be a Cavalier. They were carefree and happy-go-lucky, whereas Roundheads were dour and humourless. But at Harewood, Hugh said, it was better to be a Roundhead. They were more powerful, and larger in numbers.


Even this slight migration from chaotic Pendragon to regimented Harewood – from outside to inside, as it were – brought out in me, no doubt inevitably, a repellent consciousness of class status. Meeting my friend Michael Richford on the Downs one evening on my way home from Harewood, I remarked that my father had recently bought a Vauxhall Cresta, a car whose chrome bumpers and giant tailfins were the justifiable envy of all. On his rare visits home Dad was taking us motoring on Sunday afternoons for teas with meringues, sandwiches and éclairs down what Mum called ‘leafy lanes’ to far-flung Sussex villages. That was the kind of life we lived. Whereas, I said, everyone knew that the Richfords did not have a car because they could not afford one.


I went home like an animal that has swallowed another, sated by this rodomontade but expecting no consequences. At seven the Richfords rang. I was in my dressing gown when they appeared at the door in person at eight. Mr and Mrs Richford came into our living room and sat down – a full entry not lightly undertaken in Newlands Avenue. They wanted to make clear in person, they said, that their decision not to have a car was a choice. It was most definitely not, they said, because of any economic problem, but simply, they said, a question of how they preferred to live. The idea that they did not have enough money to buy a car was pure slander. In the circumstances, it was impossible, they said, that Michael and I could continue to be friends. I had, they insisted, unintentionally revealed my true feelings towards the whole Richford family. From now on, they said, no Hare or Richford was ever to speak to one another.


Unpleasant incidents like these were, in a sense, red days in Bexhill’s calendar. They were the moments at which the gears of class crashed and the engine jerked to a halt. The unspoken finally became spoken. There were such feuds and long, unreasoning silences all over town. I say this not to excuse my loathsome behaviour. Nothing could do that. Among other things, I was a nasty little boy. But it was also odd to live in an atmosphere where nobody really could speak about anything very much. My uncle Alan, who as a young man and shining rugby player had been Aunt Peggy’s perfect Glasgow University groom, turned up around this same time in Newlands Avenue with two Paris prostitutes whom he had just smuggled across the Channel in the boot of his car. He had fallen from being a prosperous doctor to recently being struck off the medical register for supplying drugs to whores. Between Dover and Bexhill he had moved both the girls into the back seat, and at this point he unloaded them, unlikely arrivals on a hitherto entirely respectable pavement. Margaret and I watched from upstairs windows as Alan led them, chattering happily, down the short pathway to our front door. The six of us ate a cheerful lunch, in which conversation flowed freely in two languages, without any of us making the slightest reference to the oddness of the situation, in spite of the added fact that my uncle was incapably drunk. When he staggered back into the car to resume what would presumably be a terrifying journey back to London, nothing was said. I do remember asking who on earth my uncle’s friends were, and, as usual, receiving no answer.


The 1950s began as a period of political stasis, at least as experienced by the young. If, as Doris Lessing was later to claim, Earls Court was jumping, Bexhill, like large swathes of the country, seemed to be in a sort of dormitory coma, as though John Wyndham’s triffids had just passed through and stunned the population. No sound was heard, except the tomatoes liquefying on the vine or the chickens adjusting their snooze-position in the straw. Even the cawing seagulls seemed stunned into silence after lunch. Down by the English Channel you could still go shrimping in the rock pools and come home with small fry admittedly, but fry nevertheless. Mum regularly bought Sussex dabs, a delicious kind of diminutive lemon sole, from the fisherman who sold them each morning on the beach. She made sure to clean the house first before the cleaning lady came, lest we be thought dirty. In our house we read the Daily Express, and it presented, in particular through its cartoons, a continuing view of white England in which nothing much was allowed to change. A featureless strip on the back page called The Gambols portrayed an archetypally uninteresting family which, I felt, resembled my own more closely than the characters created by the anarchic Giles. But then in 1956 the Suez crisis impinged even on a nine-year-old. There was in adults’ conversation the turbulence of a real event, and one briefly disastrous for the Hares. The SS Mooltan was once more called into service by the Royal Navy to ferry troops down towards Aden. In the wake of the self-inflicted humiliation caused by a trumped-up invasion of the canal, the popular press was in a posturing bad temper, looking for scapegoats, and in particular for anyone who did wrong by ‘our boys’. There had been some terrible failure of hygiene in the ship’s fabled kitchen which had precipitated a mass outbreak of food poisoning among the ranks. Forewarned, my mother returned ashen from the paper shop. On the front page of the Daily Sketch was a characteristically enigmatic picture of my father, in uniform, apparently at ease in his floral armchair. A screaming headline provided the exact charge: ‘The Man Who Served Our Troops Soapy Potatoes’.


Such public visibility clearly violated our family ethic. It was at the very centre of my mother’s beliefs that you should under no circumstances do anything to draw attention to yourself. Scottish, she had a stubborn faith in education – a faith to which I owe a large part of my subsequent prosperity – but for her the purpose of education was to burrow your way more successfully to a place of absolute security. Meaning, privacy. The front page of the Daily Sketch was no such place, even if, luckily, fellow members of the Highwoods Golf Club and Mum’s bridge partners were unlikely to take that particular paper. When I chose to become a playwright, it seemed to Mum like a tempting of the gods. It could only end badly. Why would any member of a family dedicated to survival choose to do anything so conspicuous? Life was dangerous enough even if you kept your head down. Why on earth would you stick it up? ‘I see Bernard Levin’s attacking you again,’ she would say to me over and over in later life, as though it were my fault. ‘He really doesn’t like you, does he?’ ‘No, Mum, he doesn’t.’ ‘What did you do to him?’


My father was continuing to visit for at least four weeks a year, unloading whole frozen New Zealand lambs and small plastic pots of papaya, lychees and pineapple which he had acquired as some sort of kickback for his huge shipboard purchases. While in the UK, he traded frequently with a chain-smoking woman called Grace who lived in the Dorchester, dealing in fruit and vegetables from Covent Garden. She wore black sequinned numbers cut low across the powdered bosom, and croaked out suspiciously hearty laughter at all Dad’s jokes. He also brought crackerballs, little exploding fireworks from Hong Kong which made me briefly popular at school. Occasionally one of my family would wind up the clockwork ballerina who danced inside a bottle of gold glitter-filled Bols gin, placed on the sideboard to remind us of the donor’s existence. But Dad was actually on one of his rare visits home, and quite as surprised as my mother, when the headmaster called them in to the school. Naturally, they were apprehensive. Instead Mr Phillips asked them whether they realised that they had an unusually clever son. One day, he said, I might gain a scholarship to a public school. Since they themselves, one out of indifference, the other out of nervousness, had never dared to detect any particular aptitude in me, they were taken aback. They had rather tended to credit my grandmother’s view that I was soft in the head. Meanwhile, my sister was sent off to Bexhill Grammar, where the syllabus included compulsory home economics, i.e. cooking. Margaret was dispatched there in spite of my mother’s misgivings that the local school might have an unfortunate effect on her accent. In their view, Margaret could only reasonably aspire to be a secretary, or, at a pinch, a teacher. It was part of the ethos of Bexhill that you might get away with having one clever child, but to claim to have two would have been classed as showing off. Margaret would go on to collect a postgraduate science degree from London University and make her life as a patent lawyer. But for now, the far more important priority, to a certain amount of resentment from the daughter, was to smooth the passage of the son.


I cannot say I felt any crushing pressure of expectation. I was that lucky kind of boy who enjoys learning. I particularly enjoyed being taught by John G––––, a charismatic musician who had recently come out of the army in Egypt in his early twenties. He had spent his National Service playing in a military band. He had an unusual approach to his job, often beginning French lessons by reading out that day’s editorial from the Daily Telegraph on the grounds that it was a model of how we might one day wish to write English. My best friend was a boy of my own age, Keith Lamdin, who was to provide the first of my many friendships with the kind of cheerful, capable people who find life easy – among my favourite companions at all times. Mr G–––– was assumed by the whole class to be in love with Keith. We took it for granted. The signs were unmistakeable. He returned Keith’s homework with tousled, blushing violence, often throwing the deep-hued book through the air in his direction while telling him he was lazy and a disgrace, but in such a way that the whole class knew it was an act.


Many of the teachers at all my schools had chosen their profession for a reason. They wanted to pass the whole day in the company of young boys. While most of the prep-school masters, untrained and washed up from the war, wished us no harm, there was nevertheless in the very intensity of psychological game-playing between boys and masters the possibility that their sexual gaskets would one day blow. One popular teacher at Harewood did indeed find the pressure intolerable, stepping dramatically forward and pulling the towel off some tiny boy after a shower. For this he was quickly dismissed. To call such tortured and impossibly unhappy souls paedophiles is to make them sound predatory. At the time, they just felt like landmines you must step around.


John G–––– was everything schoolboys most enjoy – wild, unpredictable and easy to imitate. His shockingly bad teeth were stained deep brown by the constant cigarettes which left strands of tobacco on his lips. He loved telling our class, presumably following Jean Brodie, that Form 2A were special, and that he expected us therefore to behave as if we knew it. He drove up each morning in a green pre-war Austin 7 with ill-fitting plastic windows, and then, thick shock of curly hair to the fore, he swept past the eager young art mistress, Yvonne Soundy, and the sweet young matron, Miss Homer, who both coloured at his very presence, before he presented himself to us in a force field of unprompted quotations from Dylan Thomas. It was therefore an astonishment to me, when, out of the blue, one of my regular French essays was returned with a single word written at the bottom next to the mark, nine out of ten. The word – in red ink, I can see it clearly – was ‘Mignon’. It had then been crossed out, but lightly, so that it was still visible. Since I had no idea what this judgement meant, I had to go home to consult a dictionary. I remember when I first saw the translation I thought there had been some mistake. But no, there it was. I looked several times. ‘Mignon’. ‘Darling’.


I had a feeling akin to stepping into a lift shaft. I felt myself travelling to the heart of childhood. Looking at the word ‘Mignon’ and at the scratching-out confirmed what I had always suspected. Irrational, adults were in the grip of strong and uncontrollable feelings which, under impossible pressure, might occasionally erupt and which mere children could not hope either to foresee or to understand. Me? He thought me ‘Mignon’? Or was it just my French? I had been at Harewood for a couple of years, I was probably eleven. I did not mention the exercise book and nor did he. But soon after, Mr G–––– was ill, with nothing more serious than bronchitis. The message came that he would like a sickbed visit. His younger brother led me up to his bedroom, in a large Victorian house in Bexhill Old Town. John was lying in pyjamas in the bed, reading the paper, and with a big circular tin of fifty Players untipped cigarettes within easy reach. He hugged me at once, drawing me to him. He hugged me harder than anyone had hugged me in my life. He told me how much it meant to him that I had come to see him. But, at some deeper level, I felt completely safe. This man needed me. He had profound emotional needs which were very important to him. But even then I felt a flood of relief when I sensed that these needs were not going to be overtly sexual.


We began a programme of cultural education. I had already acquired a strong taste for the cinema, lapping up with delight all the mythologising films which insisted the British had fought the Second World War with unfailing grit and courage. There was a great deal of bobbing about in small boats full of actors with boot black on their faces and woollen hats pulled over their brows. The murky tanks at Shepperton were built for heroes. I identified more strongly with the impossibly glamorous Dirk Bogarde as the medical student Simon Sparrow in the Doctor … films, sweeping round the wards of grateful patients and getting to kiss nurses. But Mr G–––– started taking me, after school, to a far more diverse programme of concerts, films and plays.


At the time there was a repertory company permanently resident at the De La Warr Pavilion, a badly maintained modernist building designed in 1935 by Serge Chermayeff and Erich Mendelsohn, the latter a Jewish refugee from Nazism who had been taken up by the English aristocracy. A second company played Devonshire Gardens during the summer season. In 1957, the company presented a total of forty-seven plays – over twice as many as now offered annually by our National Theatre. From time to time their undemanding repertory of thrillers, light comedies and farces was stretched to include work by Anouilh, Sheridan, Wilde, Maugham, J. B. Priestley, Arthur Miller, Ugo Betti and Graham Greene. Both theatres had ashtrays on every seat so any children attending could complete a full day’s passive smoking. The Penguin Players were run by a married couple, Richard Burnett and Peggy Paige, while their juvenile leads, Vilma Hollingbery and Michael Napier Brown, also shared a bed. Even Donald Wolfit and his wife Rosalind Iden came visiting with a Shakespearian programme which ended ominously with the ham actor threatening to reward our response by doing the whole thing again. ‘But Time, the great master, calls,’ he added, to the relief of all. For music, we could go to concerts in the White Rock Pavilion in Hastings. For films, there was a choice of three cinemas in Bexhill, and a further five within a few miles.


John had a deeply romantic view of art. It was about access to massive, mysterious forces, it was about greatness. But he also had a faiblesse, which I shared, for all the hick little black-and-white comedies, a lot of them starring Peter Sellers, which presented adult Britons as petty, posturing and ridiculous. The only response any halfway sensitive person could have to British life in the 1950s was to laugh at it. Meanwhile, a lot of the stuff we saw from the Penguins, he told me, was not very good. This was a weekly rep, after all. Rehearsals were just line-learning. The actors provided their own costumes from a travelling trunk which had to include dinner dress and a police uniform. But Mr G–––– also told me that you could sometimes learn as much from bad theatre as from good. I had no intimation that this was a proposition I would test to destruction in the coming years.


This period of my life probably lasted a few months, and made me uneasy. It was clear to other boys at school that Mr G–––– had moved his attentions to me, and the response was a mixture of mockery and jealousy. Keith Lamdin, on the other hand, was glowing with relief that the spotlight was no longer on him. But again, as so often in later life when I appeared in other people’s eyes to be receiving more than my fair share of favours, I had no reason to be disloyal. Far from it. This man was opening my eyes and ears to all the things which were most interesting to me. Why on earth would I object to that? Each time we went out – a man in his mid-twenties accompanied by a boy aged eleven – I had to ask permission from my mother, which at all times she automatically gave. The plan one Saturday afternoon was that we should drive in Mr G––––’s car to Hastings to see Our Man in Havana, a Carol Reed picture with Alec Guinness and Noël Coward. We were both looking forward to it. But this time, when I asked her, Mum unexpectedly refused. She was standing at the sink, and I was in the kitchen behind her, when she went on to say that it was wrong for me to take so much from Mr G––––. I said that there was nothing wrong in our friendship. He was simply being kind. My mother replied, in a tone which brooked no argument, ‘Mr G–––– has been kind enough.’


It was, you may say, a perfectly pitched Bexhill remark. It was loaded with insinuation but at the same time free of it. To this day, I can’t tell whether Mum truly disapproved of my teacher’s generosity – nobody should be unusually kind – or, more likely, suspected the motive for it. All I knew was that there was no way past it. It was, I think, one of only two or three times I ever heard my mother say anything which was completely final. People who rarely lay down the law have a special authority when they do. After that one sentence, there would never be any question of my going anywhere with Mr G–––– again. Feelings of guilt had already consumed me when the elderly gentleman had exposed himself a couple of years earlier to me and Michael Richford. The more people reassured me that the incident was in no way my fault, the more disturbingly certain I became that it was. When a police car drew up in Newlands Avenue outside our house, and I was summoned down from my bed in my dressing gown to answer exhaustive questions, when I was given a special mug of hot chocolate and a plate of digestive biscuits, I felt, in the very lowering of everyone’s voices and the elaborateness of their concern, that I was judged complicit and judged bad.


Is this why I became a Christian? I don’t know. Something inside me was susceptible when I started reading the Old Testament and believed it to be true. Maybe I just inherited my mother’s Presbyterian guilt about daring to exist at all. I remember weeping on my knees beside my bed in terror at some of God’s bloodier threats, and believing that I fell clearly in the group singled out for eternal damnation. Fifty years later, an incumbent Archbishop of Canterbury would make me happy by praising the perceptiveness of my writing about the Church of England, but the original reason for my six adolescent years as a believer had not been at all high-minded. Simply, I was impressionable. I was vulnerable not to Christ, but to His Father. The prospect of hell seemed real.


Religion was one of the many things my mother approved of in principle, but did little about in practice. So it was at my own initiative that I started attending Sunday School at St Stephen’s Church up the road, and then, more enthusiastically, Crusader class in the afternoons. There I enjoyed weekly evangelical uplift. Under Crusader auspices I could also go off to annual summer camp – white cloth tents pitched in fields twice outside Aviemore, and twice at Studland Bay in Dorset, both bracing locations well suited to lung-filling open-air hymns and frying sausages. I even once stepped forward, in a moment of miserable foolishness, at the end of a Baptist service to declare myself for Christ, à la Billy Graham. Walking home, even I apprehended that this had been an embarrassing thing to do, and I avoided the follow-up meetings which were scheduled to make sure that I would stay born again. When I was pilloried at school by a boy who claimed to have seen me coming forward, I lied and denied it had ever happened.


The onset of religion made me sanctimonious. My insecurity, my own deep certainty that I was unlikeable, was now lacquered with a glossy layer of stupid ideology. My sister and I had a fight on the stairs at home over ownership of a Bible and I screamed at her, ‘It’s the word of God.’ She laughed and said it wasn’t one word, it was many. Religion to me was an alternative, a second life which might vitiate the pain of the first. I liked being in a relationship with Our Lord because it meant I had something which nobody else could touch. It didn’t give me immunity, but it did mean that what I regarded as the dismal story of my life wasn’t the only story. But piety also offered me a shield against the discomforts of class. To a group of rough boys who assaulted me on the way home from school for no other crime but going to a private establishment and wearing its distinctive blazer, I shouted again, ‘Christ would be ashamed of you.’ Looking back, it’s hard to say who Our Lord would disown quickest in that encounter, but I would be the leading candidate. Christ would certainly have had something to say about my mother’s fear of being thought common. To be fair, it grew not out of a dislike of the working class but out of a heartfelt fear of them, fuelled by so many nights as a young woman in Paisley scurrying past drunks. But considering how little money we had, and how insecure was our own social status, it’s amazing that so much effort went into dissociating ourselves from manual workers. Margaret was forced to go to visit the Botwrights at No. 36 twice weekly to watch Emergency Ward Ten, since we were not allowed to have ITV in the house. It was vulgar. Only the BBC for us. And we were particularly forbidden to pick up penny chews and Wagon Wheels from the Cosy Café in Sea Road, a place of abundant runny egg sandwiches and steamed-up windows, which filled my mother with a horror which was all the more real for being ridiculous.
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